1958

H. L. Allred, Devon J. McKee, Orin (Hank) Swain,  
Joseph Wilcken and Orlan Cook v. Union Seed  
Company and Wayne Malin : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts in this case are not in dispute.

Wayne Malin, one of the defendants in the case, had established a retail outlet for farmers' supplies, prior to 1950. He operated under the name of Roosevelt Flour Mill, and sold supplies to the Plaintiffs. He owned his own warehouse (Finding of Fact No. 2).

In 1950, Malin became a special agent for Union Seed Company, authorized to buy seed for his principal. He acted in such capacity until the spring of 1956. During this period of time Malin was duly licensed by the State Department of Agriculture as a commission agent to buy seed for Union Seed Company, and held himself out, and notified the growers in his area, including the Plaintiffs that he was buying seed for Appellant, Union Seed Company (Finding of Fact No. 3).

Union Seed Company furnished Malin with a "clipper" for rough cleaning seed, and furnished bags to Malin for which a charge was made, but credit given if the bags were returned. Malin did not charge the farmers for the bags, if the seed was sold to Union Seed Company, otherwise a charge was made (Finding of Fact No. 4).

Union Seed Company furnished Malin with draft books and authorized and directed him to draw drafts on Union Seed Company in payment of seed purchased (Finding of Fact No. 15). Samples of seed were sent to Union Seed Company, where the seed was analyzed for purity, and a purchase price given to Malin for acceptance by the grower. Upon acceptance the seed would be shipped to the Union Seed Company, and the growers, at times, would help load the seed on the trucks for shipment. Most of the plaintiffs sold seed to Union Seed Company in this manner and received drafts in payment from Malin (Finding of Fact No. 5 and 6).

About three years prior to the trial (sometime in 1953) some of the farmers desired to obtain their money sooner

than the four or five days necessary for the drafts to reach Burley, Idaho. Wayne Malin, the agent, therefore started issuing his personal check in payment of the seed bought, (Tr. 39) and drew a draft to his own order and deposited the draft to his bank account, thereby enabling the grower to obtain immediate cash. This procedure to facilitate cash payment was approved by Union Seed Company's manager. Advance payments, partial payments and payments in full were made in this fashion (Finding of Fact No. 10). Later Malin drew drafts in this manner for his own convenience as well as for the convenience of the growers. Some of the plaintiffs would also accept merchandise from Malin's plant in payment of seed (Tr. P. 75).

The drafts which Malin drew to his order, as well as those drawn to the order of the grower, showed the name of grower, the lot number of the seed, and Malin's commission (Findings of Fact No. 8 and 9).

Malin's authority was that he was to pay in full for the seed when purchase was made, and he could make advances to farmers on contemplated purchases (Finding of Fact No. 15) (Answer to Interrogatories No. 6).

Commencing in the year 1954, some of the plaintiffs delivered seed to Malin as agent for Union Seed Company, and in many instances accepted advances and partial payment by Wayne Malin's check. The seed was sent to Union Seed Company, except for a few items sold locally or to Northrup King Company, in the regular course of business procedure, and drafts were drawn by Malin to himself as payee, in full payment. Malin failed to pay the balance of the purchase price to the grower (Finding of Fact No. 10).



In about 1954, some of the growers who delivered seed to Malin wanted a better price than Union Seed offered, so rejecting this offer, they instructed Malin to hold the seed for a better price. Later Malin sold the seed, some to Union Seed Company, some to others, without telling the growers he had sold it. When inquiry was made by the growers, Malin told them it was in his warehouse, or being cleaned, or held at the Union Seed plant in Burley, Idaho. Many of these growers accepted advances or partial payments from Malin, by his personal check on the seed they left with him to sell at a better price (Tr. Page 29, 41 to 57 inc. and Finding of Fact No. 11).

The Appellant, Union Seed Company, paid in full for all seed it ever received by draft payable either to the grower or Wayne Malin.

No grower testified, and no evidence was introduced, that any plaintiff ever inquired of the Union Seed Company about the seed or payment for the seed, although some of the transactions go back nearly two years before the Complaint was filed.

The payments made by Malin and accepted by the plaintiffs appear on Pages 75, 83 and 85 of the transcript of record.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT 1

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS MEMORANDUM OPINION (RECORD P. 64) AND

IN ITS FINDINGS OF FACT NO. 16 IN FINDING THAT WAYNE MALIN CONVERTED PLAINTIFF'S SEED AND THAT UNION SEED COMPANY IS LIABLE FOR THE VALUE OF THE SEED BECAUSE OF CONVERSION.

POINT 2

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT FINDING THAT WAYNE MALIN ACTED BEYOND THE SCOPE OF HIS AUTHORITY AS A SPECIAL AGENT WHEN HE MADE CREDIT PURCHASES, AND IN NOT FINDING THAT THE RESPONDENTS WAIVED ANY CLAIM AGAINST APPELLANT BY NOT DEMANDING AND OBTAINING PAYMENT IN FULL AT TIME OF SALE.

POINT 3

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT FINDING THAT THE RESPONDENTS ARE ESTOPPED FROM ASSERTING ANY CLAIM AGAINST APPELLANT.

- A. AS TO ALL RESPONDENTS.
- B. AS TO THOSE WHO HAD AGENT HOLD THE SEED FOR SPECULATION.

POINT 4

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING APPELLANT LIABLE FOR CONVERSION OF PLAINTIFF'S MONEY BY WAYNE MALIN.

## ARGUMENT

## POINT 1

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS MEMORANDUM OPINION (RECORD P. 64) AND IN ITS FINDINGS OF FACT NO. 16 IN FINDING THAT WAYNE MALIN CONVERTED PLAINTIFF'S SEED AND THAT UNION SEED COMPANY IS LIABLE FOR THE VALUE OF THE SEED BECAUSE OF CONVERSION.

The court found the Appellant, Union Seed Company, liable to the respondents on the theory of a conversion of the seed by Wayne Malin, Appellants' Agent. Such finding is not only not supported by the evidence, but is contrary to the evidence.

All of the plaintiffs knew Malin was the agent of Appellant for the purpose of buying seed. All of them had delivered seed to him for purchase in prior years, and had received payment for the seed so delivered, either by draft drawn by Malin on Union Seed, or by his personal check. All of them delivered the seed, the subject of this suit, to Malin, as "Commission Agent" for Appellant for sale of the seed. The only evidence that offering price was not acceptable are as to those few respondents, named and discussed in Point 3 this brief. Most of the respondents ask for and accepted advances or part payment for the seed so delivered. Indeed some of the original plaintiffs were dismissed from the suit when the evidence showed they had been paid in full by Malin. Some of the Plaintiffs helped load the seed on the trucks for shipment to Union Seed Company.

The past dealing between the parties and this evidence shows conclusively, the plaintiffs surrendering title to the seed when the seed was delivered and price ascertained in the usual and customary manner that they had followed for years.

Utah Code Annotated 1953, states the law in this jurisdiction as follows:

60-2-2. "(1) Where there is a contract to sell specific or ascertained goods, the property in them is transferred to the buyer at such time as the parties to the contract intend it to be transferred."

"(2) For the purpose of ascertaining the intention of the parties to the contract regard shall be had to the terms of the contract, the conduct of the parties, usages of the trade and the circumstances of the case."

60-2-3. "Unless a different intention appears, the following rules for ascertaining the intention of the parties as to the time at which the property in the goods is to pass to the buyer:

"Rule (1) Where there is an unconditional contract to sell specific goods in a deliverable state, the property in the goods passes to the buyer when the contract is made, and it is immaterial whether the time of payment, or the time of delivery, or both, is postponed."

"Rule (4) (b). Where in pursuance of a contract to sell the seller delivers the goods to the buyer, or to a carrier or other bailee (whether named by the buyer or not) for the purpose of transmission to or holding for the buyer, he is presumed to have unconditionally appropriated the goods to the contract, except in the cases provided for in the next

rule and in Section 60-2-4. (Neither exception is applicable in this case.) This presumption is applicable although by the terms of the contract the buyer is to pay the price before receiving delivery of the goods, and the goods are marked 'collect on delivery' or their equivalents." (The first above parenthesis are mine.)

Williston states the rule as follows: Williston on Sales, Revised Edition, Chapter 343, Page 330:

"The general rule of the modern law of sales is almost precisely the opposite of the old rule. The modern rule is merely one of presumption and is expressed in the Sales Act in these words: 'Where there is an unconditional contract to sell specific goods, in a deliverable state, the property in the goods passes to the buyer when the contract is made, and it is immaterial whether the time of payment or the time of delivery, or both, be postponed'. The authorities sustaining this rule have been previously considered. They show that while under the old law the property could not pass without payment or credit or delivery, it is now presumed to pass, irrespective of any agreement for credit. The seller's lien protects the seller from giving up his goods before he receives the price, while formerly the retention of title served the same purpose. It is still the presumption, where nothing is said about time of payment, that no credit is intended, but the conclusion is drawn that until payment the seller has a lien only, instead of property in the goods." (Of course, the lien is lost when seller surrenders possession of the goods. UCA 1953, Section 60-4-2.)

Delivery to a third person under buyers designation of such person for the purpose is tantamount to delivery to buyer and is effectual to pass title to buyer. *Claypool*

vs. *Mills Standard Garage*, 30 P. 2d 89, *Fergus County Hardware Co. vs. Crowley*, 57 Montana 340, 188 Pac. 374.

Seller may waive payment in cash and if delivery is made with such intention, it has the effect of passing title and places the transaction on the same basis of any other sale on credit. *Kemper Grain Co. vs. Harlow*, 89 Kan. 824, 133 P. 565. *Frech vs. Lewis*, 218 Pa. 141, 67 Atl. 45, 120 Am. St. Reports 864, Annotated at Page 868.

The facts conclusively establish that the growers delivered the seed to buyer's agent in the same manner as previous transactions. That they knew the seed was to be sent to the Appellant, that they sometimes helped load the seed for shipment, that they had done this in the past and were familiar with the procedure and custom, that advance payments and partial payments were accepted by many of them, and they knew Appellant's agent had full authority and the means supplied by the Appellant for paying in full. To hold that Appellant's agent converted the seed is to fly in the face of the custom, the past practices of the growers, and the facts.

Even those few (see point 3) who ask the agent to hold the seed for a better price, left the agent with authority to sell and transfer title, since they gave him authority to sell.

## POINT 2

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT FINDING  
THAT WAYNE MALIN ACTED BEYOND THE  
SCOPE OF HIS AUTHORITY AS A SPECIAL  
AGENT WHEN HE MADE CREDIT PUR-

CHASES, AND IN NOT FINDING THAT THE RESPONDENTS WAIVED ANY CLAIM AGAINST APPELLANT BY NOT DEMANDING AND OBTAINING PAYMENT IN FULL AT TIME OF SALE.

Section 60-6-3 U. C. A. 1953, states :

“In any case not provided for in this title the rules of law and equity, including the law merchant, *and in particular the rules relating to the law of principal and agent*, \* \* \* shall continue to apply to contracts to sell and to sales of goods.”

The evidence is that Malin, the Agent, was at all times supplied with draft books to pay for the seed he purchased for Union Seed Company. The court found that the Agent, Malin, was directed by the principal, Appellant, to pay the full purchase price for the seed bought (Findings of Fact 15) ; that in order to facilitate cash payment to the grower, Malin was authorized to issue drafts to his order to cover his personal checks to grower in payment of seed purchased. There is no evidence that the Appellant ever authorized, or knew, of a credit purchase. There is no evidence that Appellant knew, or could have known, that the growers had not been paid in full.

The authority of an Agent to buy on credit is stated in 2 Am. Jur. Sec. 112, P. 93.

“As a general rule, if a principal authorizes his agent to buy goods only for cash and furnishes the agent with money to make payment therefor, he is not liable for the value of the goods purchased by the agent on the credit of the principal. This is

substantially in accord with the principles laid down by the American Law Institute. Moreover, the fact that the principal received and used the goods will not necessarily render him liable for the price if it appears that he did so without notice that the purchase was on credit. *Under the rule stated, if a purchaser, at the time of a sale, directs the seller to deliver the goods to the purchaser's agent, to whom he has given the money to pay cash, the seller, by taking the personal check of such agent in part payment on the delivery of goods, thereby discharges the debt of the purchaser in full and accepts the check at his peril."*

"However, according to both the decided cases and the Restatement of the Law of Agency, although express authority is not given to an agent to buy on credit and he is merely authorized to make the purchase, he is, by implication, *if no funds are furnished him to enable him to buy for cash*, clearly authorized to purchase upon the credit of his principal upon usual or reasonable terms; this is for the recognized reason that when an agent is authorized to do an act for his principal, all the means necessary to accomplish the act are impliedly included in the authority. Moreover, a principal who received and uses the goods, *knowing that he has not furnished the cash with which to buy them*, is liable at least for the value of the goods to the seller. If the agent has ostensible authority to purchase on credit, secret limitations on his authority in this respect are not effectual so far as concerns the rights of third person selling to the agent in good faith." (Underscoring ours.)

MECHEM ON AGENCY—Second Edition, Vol. I. Sec. 914, Page 652.

"An agent authorized to purchase goods, who is supplied with funds for that purpose, and who has



not been held out as having a more general authority, has no implied authority to bind his principal by a purchase on the principal's credit, and in such a case the principal will not be bound by a purchase on credit, although the goods come in fact to his use, unless he has knowledge of the fact and does something in ratification of it, or unless there be shown a custom of trade or a course of dealing justifying a purchase on the principal's credit. Mere authority to buy does not imply authority to buy on credit." To the same effect is 2 C. J. S. Sec. 114(c), Page 1312, 1313.

Directly in point, is the case of *Americus Oil Co. vs. Gurr*, 114 Ga. 624, 40 S. E. 780, 1902.

The facts as stated by Court, were:

"An action was brought in the Superior Court of Sumter County by W. H. Gurr against Americus Oil Company for the price of certain cotton seed. There was a verdict for the Plaintiff, and the defendant complains here of the Court's refusal to grant it a new trial. The theory of the Plaintiff was that he sold the seed to one Ward, as agent of the defendant; that it received the seed, and was therefore liable to him for the price thereof."

Held: Judgment reversed.

"We reverse the judgment rendered in this case because it was contrary to law. The Plaintiff failed entirely to show that Ward was the general agent of the defendant company, or that he had authority to buy seed upon its credit. It clearly and distinctly appears from the evidence as a whole (and there is no evidence to the contrary) that the arrangement between the company and Ward was for him to buy seed and ship the same to the company; he in each

instance to pay for the seed purchased, with cash furnished him for this purpose by the company. His agency was thus limited, and Gurr, in dealing with him, was bound, at his peril, to know exactly what authority Ward had in the premises. It is too well settled to require citation of authority that one who deals with a special agent must ascertain for himself the scope and extent of the agent's authority to bind his principal. There is not one line of testimony in the record before us which would warrant a finding that the oil company contemplated or intended that Ward should have any other authority, except to buy for it, with the cash supplied to him, the cotton seed which the company needed in its business. The fact that it actually received the seed which were delivered by Gurr to Ward did not make it liable to the farmer under the doctrine of ratification. It did not know of or sanction Ward's purchase on credit, and had, in point of fact, furnished him with more than enough cash to pay for the seed he obtained from Gurr. The verdict returned by the jury necessarily embraced a finding that Ward was authorized to buy seed on credit, and makes the company liable to the seller; and this finding is wholly unsupported."

While this is an early case, that it is still good law is established by its having been cited with approval in later cases—and this rule is stated in texts and authorities.

WHEELER vs. McQUIRE, SCOGGINS—86 Ala. 398, 404.

Defendants' agent conducted retail store for Defendant? Did agent have authority to purchase on credit when funds to pay cash were made available? Held—No.

"When an express authority is given, the extent thereof must be ascertained from its terms; and

another or different authority can not be implied, unless facts are shown from which such other authority may be presumed, or arises by implication of law. Therefore, proof of facts or circumstances from which the authority is presumed or arises by implication of law—an appearance of authority, caused not by the agent himself, but by the defendant—is essential to his, (defendant) liability for Tatham's (the agent) acts, not within the scope of his commission. In such case, it is incumbent upon the plaintiff to prove that defendant, by ratification, assent, or acquiescence in previous acts, held out Tatham (Agent) as clothed in the character in which he assumed to act, which fairly led the plaintiffs to believe that more extensive powers had in fact been given, than were conferred by the terms of the appointment. \* \* \* It should, however, be remarked, that in order to bind the defendant by ratification, assent, or acquiescence in prior acts of his agent in excess of the authority actually given, knowledge of the material facts must be brought home to the defendant. And, if, in the absence of express authority to bind defendant in the manner in which he is sought to be charged, his liability is rested on previous recognition of similar acts of Tatham as his agent, it is requisite to show that plaintiffs sold the goods to Tatham (agent) on the faith of such previous recognition."

P. 406:

"A principal is not required to distrust his agent. He may act on the presumption that third parties, dealing with his agent, will not be negligent in ascertaining the extent of his authority, as well as the existence of his agency. And negligence to constitute a ground of liability, must have caused the plaintiffs to repose trust on the authority of Tatham (agent) *and the negligence of plaintiffs must not*

*have proximately contributed to the loss.*" (Brackets and italics mine.)

TAFT vs. BAKER—100 Mass. 68.

Syllabus—

In an action for the price of goods sold on defendant's credit to his agent, in which defendant contends that the *purchase of goods on credit was not within the scope of the agency, evidence is admissible to show that the agent was always in funds*, either from the business itself which was the subject of the agency, or from the defendant, sufficient to pay cash for all his purchases. (Italics mine.)

MORGAN vs. GEORGIA PAVING & CONSTRUCTION CO.—149 S. E. 426, Ga. 1929 (citing with approval *Americus Oil Co. vs. Gurr*, supra.).

"A person having authority from another to use the other's name in making cash purchases for the latter has no authority, as the latter's agent to make purchases and pledge his principal's credit for their payment."

Restatement of the Law of Agency—Sec. 65, Page 159, states the law as follows:

"(2) Unless otherwise agreed, authority to purchase includes:

"(a) if the principal supplies the funds, authority to buy for money only and not on credit; or

"(b) if the principal does not supply the funds, authority to pledge his credit upon usual or reasonable terms."

Under the facts of this case, the growers waived payment on delivery, without the knowledge of the Appellant, and against his express direction, and voluntarily substituted therefor, Malin's, the agent's, personal credit.

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