1958

# H. L. Allred, Devon J. McKee, Orin (Hank) Swain, Joseph Wilcken and Orlan Cook v. Union Seed Company and Wayne Malin : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

The problem of purchasing agricultural produce from farmers and then not paying for it, has obviously been a continuing and serious problem. The Legislature, therefore, adopted Chapter 1, Title 5, U.C.A. 1953, to protect the farmer. Section 3 recited in a declaration of policy:

"That it is recognized that the producer of farm products \* \* \* \* is subject to unusual haz-

ards and losses in his dealings with certain persons who seek to obtain and do obtain from such producer his products for resale."

As a result, the statute requires persons dealing with producers of farm products to be licensed. A person, representing a dealer, broker or commission merchant, is required to be licensed as an agent, as Malin was. Malin, under this statute had no authority to buy on his own behalf. He was the agent of appellant only, and had authority to buy on its behalf only and as its agent. He was held out to the public as having this capacity. Then, appellant, which had licensed him as its agent, permitted the making of deals of various types, and specifically knew that Malin was making advances and expressly authorized him to do so. The advance could be made while the seed was still growing in the field, or after it was harvested but before delivery to Malin, or after delivery to Malin but before the purchase agreement had been completed, etc. Drafts drawn against appellant for these advances were honored. Various services were rendered to the grower, obviously for the purpose of aiding the negotiation and ultimate purchase of the seed. Appellant made bags available prior to any purchase agreement. The grower put his seed in the bags so furnished, and if the sale was to appellants, he didn't have to pay anything for the use of the bags. If he sold his seed somewhere else, he did have to buy the bags. Malin was storing the seed prior to the consummation of a deal. If a deal were finally closed, no storage fee was charged. If it was not, he charged for



storage. A machine was furnished to clean the seed. This happened before the seed was graded, priced and bought, and the farmer was helped out financially by advances being made to him before the sale, and sometimes even before the harvest. These things were all calculated to morally bind the grower to sell to appellant. Malin was obviously given considerable latitude by appellant, as is clearly evidenced by the various types of deals that he made, and in the end result appellant simply trusted Malin to the extent that he could draw drafts upon it payable to himself and in many instances with very little or no descriptive information. He could get advance commissions for himself. He eventually drew some drafts without saying what they were for. He had worked with appellant over a period of years and it obviously trusted him, but more important to this case is that the deals he was making were with its knowledge, approval and consent, and it held him out as its agent to make the deals.

One thing, and one thing only, went wrong. Malin turned dishonest. He started drawing drafts payable to himself, without paying the grower. When the growers inquired about their seed, he gave them excuses, but basically left them with the impression that their seed was still on hand. One draft at least, payable to a grower, was forged by Malin. It doesn't matter how the problem is approached — the seed was delivered to appellant's agent in accordance with the established custom. The seed for which respondents have been given judgment actually was received by appellant and used

by it. Respondents have not been paid for their seed. True, appellant has advanced the money to its agent, Malin, but he did not turn the money over to the grower who owned the seed, and the growers are entitled to payment.

The law in other jurisdictions is in near universal accord with the Utah position. When a principal appoints an agent for the conduct of certain business affairs which are designed to benefit the principal, the principal is estopped from denying the apparent authority of the agent and any loss occasioned by the agent's apparent authority will be assessed against the principal rather than against innocent parties dealing with the agent. *Corpus Juris Secundum*, Volume 2, § 96 (page 1211) states the rule as follows:

“The doctrine of apparent authority rests upon principles of estoppel, or in the nature of an estoppel, forbidding one to deny to the prejudice of those he has misled the consequences of an appearance of power which he produced.

“The basis upon which this rule is usually deemed to rest consists in the fact that apparent authority is regarded as being in the nature of authority by estoppel, the great preponderance of cases which consider this phase of the subject expressing the view, in substance, that the principal, having clothed the agent with the semblance of authority, by his conduct or inaction as the case may be, will not be permitted after others have been led to act in reliance on the appearances thus produced, to deny, to the prejudice of such others, what he has theretofore

tacitly affirmed as to the extent of the agent's powers. (citing cases).

"Whether or not estoppel, in its technical sense, is regarded as underlying the rule, apparent authority at any rate is nearly related thereto, implying a transaction itself invalid and a person who is forbidden for equitable reasons to set up that invalidity; a principal may bind himself by causing others to believe the agent's authority to be greater than actually is the case. (citing cases) *Ultimately it is but another application of the fundamental maxim that any loss from misconduct of a third person should fall on that one of two innocent persons dealing through him who, by his confidence, had made the loss possible.* (citing cases)

*"To permit the principal to dispute the agent's authority in such a situation would be to allow him to commit a fraud upon the rights of innocent persons."* (Citing cases) (emphasis added)

The general law of agency applicable to the case at bar seems to be too clear to be disputable. The above quotations set forth the law with regard to the apparent authority of an agent which permits him to act to the prejudice to an innocent purchaser. When Malin converted respondents' seed or money, he exceeded his authority, but since Malin accomplished this by virtue of the vehicle which appellant had given him, appellant is liable to respondents.

If appellant had exercised care and caution in these transactions, and if Malin's authority was only apparent (rather than express), it is submitted that appellant would still be liable to respondents under the law just

quoted. It is repeated, however, that the instant case is one where the principal did not use due care in dealing with his agent, and, further, that the agent had express, rather than apparent, authority. This reinforces the position of respondents to a degree where it is difficult to see how appellant can escape liability.

Under this point we have shown that appellant is liable to respondents whether or not title passed to appellant. If title passed, appellant is liable to respondents for the purchase price; if title did not pass, appellant is liable to respondents for conversion.

#### POINT NO. 3

##### DIRECT RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S BRIEF.

We shall now proceed to examine, point by point, the brief of appellant. To the extent that we have already responded to sections of appellant's brief, we will so indicate by reference to earlier sections of this brief. Though the wording of appellant's points of argument suggests that the trial court reached conclusions that it did not reach, we will, as a matter of simplicity and convenience, accept appellant's phraseology.

- (a) The Trial Court Did Not Err In Its Memorandum Opinion And Its Finding That Wayne Malin Converted Plaintiff's Seed And That Union Seed Company Is Liable For The Value Of The Seed Because Of Conversion.

We will make two observations with regard to this point of appellant's brief. First, appellant's liability for conversion does not rest merely upon the fact that

appellant's agent converted respondents' seed. Not at all! Appellant was held liable for only that seed which it received and appropriated to its own use in a manner contrary to the rights of the owners. This is to say that appellant is liable for its own conversion, rather than for the conversion of its agent.

The second observation is with regard to passage of title. Point No. 1 of appellant's brief is devoted exclusively to the contention that title to all of the seed in question passed to appellant and there thus could have been no conversion. We have shown under our Point No. 1 that title could not have passed with regard to those respondents who refused to sell their seed. Under our Point No. 2 we discussed those respondents who had not specifically refused to sell their seed, and demonstrated that, though there is persuasive evidence to show that title did not pass, the evidence does not conclusively reveal that title to *none* of the seed passed. We there pointed out, however, that for the purpose of sustaining the trial court's judgment, it is really immaterial whether or not title passed. If it did not, appellant is liable as a converter; if a sale was made and title did pass, appellant is liable for the purchase price.

- (b) The Trial Court Did Not Err In Finding That Wayne Malin Acted Within The Scope Of His Authority As A Special Agent When He Made Credit Purchases, And In Finding That The Respondents Did Not Waive Any Claim Against Appellant By Not Demanding And Obtaining Payment In Full At Time Of Sale.

Appellant actually forwards two arguments under its Point No. 2. These are (1) that Malin had no authority to make credit purchases and, in allegedly so doing, he acted beyond the scope of his authority, and (2) that respondents waived their rights to full payment by not making timely demands to appellant. Appellant's second argument on waiver is the same as its argument under Point No. 3 on estoppel, and in order to avoid undue repetition we will defer response to that argument until we discuss estoppel.

With regard to Malin's scope of authority, we would like first to observe that an agent's scope of authority is relevant for the purpose of determining whether a principal shall be bound by the contracts of the agent. Appellant's liability for conversion does not rest upon the scope of authority of Malin, but upon appellant's appropriation to itself of the ownership rights in respondents' seed. We make this distinction at this time to clarify the theories of liability and the authority cited to sustain these theories. Appellant takes the position that the trial court based its judgment solely upon conversion, and then appellant cites authority to show that it was error to hold appellant liable for the purchase price because the purchases were beyond the scope of the agent's authority. Needless to say, the citations of authority are not relevant to the legal proposition put forward.

We have taken the position under our Point No. 2 of this brief that, as to those respondents who had not refused to sell their seed, liability might be based upon

either conversion or purchase price. Nothing additional need be said with regard to that position, since we have already argued it rather fully. We would like to point out, however, that *every* citation of authority given by appellant on pages 10-15 of its brief deals with an agent who has been *given cash* by his principal and who has been instructed to make only full cash payments on purchase. Those citations of authority are not objectionable to us, but they have no application to the fact situation before this court. Every mode and method of payment used by Malin was accepted and approved by appellant, as we have shown in our Statement of Facts. Malin was not at any time given cash to make purchases; he was limited to drawing drafts which had to be accepted and paid by appellant several days after purchase.

Appellant's brief, on page 10, states: "There is no evidence that the appellant ever authorized or knew of a credit purchase. There is no evidence that appellant knew, or could have known, that the growers had not been paid in full." We have shown, in our Statement of Facts, that appellant approved various kinds of transactions, and had knowledge that some accounts went longer than eight months before final payment was made. Actually, most of the initial payments made by appellant through Malin were advances, and were not part payments of the purchase price. While it is quite possible that some of these transactions were in the nature of credit sales, most of them were naked advances and were in no way credit sales. And, as to those which might have been credit sales, it is clear that appellant approved such sales, as we

have shown by those transactions listed under "Down Payments or Part Payments" in the Statement of Facts.

We summarize our response to appellant's argument on scope of authority in this manner: (1) Most of the transactions were simply advances on seed which appellant later hoped to buy, and were not credit sales; and (2) as to those transactions which might have been credit sales, appellant had fully authorized such transactions.

(c) The Trial Court Did Not Err In Finding That  
The Respondents Are Not Estopped From  
Asserting Their Claims Against Appellant.

1. As To All Respondents

As we earlier indicated, we will discuss appellant's arguments as to both waiver and estoppel at this time since both points are essentially the same. Perhaps the simplest response to this part of appellant's brief is to examine each illustration of fact and citation of authority.

It is first contended, on top of page 16 of appellant's brief, that respondents waived their rights to payment by not demanding full cash payment on delivery of their seed. To support the contention that there is a prima facie waiver of cash payment by not demanding the same on delivery, appellant cites *Comer v. Cunningham*, 77 N.Y. 391, 33 Am. Rep. 626. Little need be said in response to this contention of appellant, since respondents did not sell their seed when it was delivered. It was delivered for the purpose of cleaning, sampling, grading, and negotiating for a purchase price. To argue



that respondents have waived the right to claim payment because they did not demand full cash payment before their seed was weighed, cleaned, or sold, is to pursue an unmeritorious contention.

In order to show that respondents were very negligent in not demanding full payment shortly after the sale of their seed, appellant cites on page 17 of its brief the cases of Huber and Hamblin. We think that appellant has fairly cited two typical examples, but we think that appellant has not shown what actually happened in those cases. Appellant says that both Huber and Hamblin received payments on their seed prior to December of 1954, and that in that month the seed was shipped and drafts in full payment were honored by appellant. It is then asserted that respondents Hamblin and Huber didn't tell appellant directly about not being fully paid until May of 1956. Let us see what really happened in these two cases.

Hamblin was given a draft in his name in the amount of \$1500 (not \$1,700) on November 21, 1954. (N-2621) This payment was simply an "advance on Lot #1702—92 Bags." There was no ascertained weight and no purchase price was given. This was merely a naked advance and no sale was made. Later, on November 23, 1954, Malin drew a draft in his own name for the sum of \$5,500 which included a second advance in the amount of \$1,500 on Hamblin's Lot #1702. (L-2311) Hamblin never knew about this second advance. On December 23, 1954 Malin purportedly sold Hamblin's seed for \$31.75 per one hundred pounds, took a commission

for the sale, deducted \$3000 for the two \$1500 advances previously made, and drew a draft in his own name for the balance of the purchase price, or \$921.77. (L-2324) Hamblin never knew about this purported sale. So, all boiled down, the facts are simple. Hamblin was given a \$1500 advance on November 21, 1954, and was then waiting to sell his seed. Malin drew a subsequent draft in the amount of \$1500 and also sold Hamblin's seed without informing him. Appellant contends that Hamblin should have complained about not receiving full payment on the sale of his seed, when Hamblin had no knowledge that his seed had been sold. When the respondents did inquire as to the location of their seed (not the purchase price, since they didn't know of any sale), Malin gave them various explanations which they apparently believed (R. 29). It is difficult to see how Hamblin could have waived any right or be estopped from asserting any claim under these facts.

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